THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

FEB 14 2018

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2018-001435

Unpublished Opinion No. 2018-UP-281 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 27, 2018)

Philip Ethier and Jeanne Ethier,

Petitioners,

v.

Fairfield Memorial Hospital; Guy R. Bibeau, M.D.; Tuomey
Medical Professionals, Inc; And Pee Dee Emergency Medical
Associates, PA,

Defendants,

Of whom Guy R. Bibeau, M.D., is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

David Proffitt, SC Bar # 11193
Ronald Cox, SC Bar # 11129
Proffitt & Cox, LLP
140 Wildewood Park Drive, Suite A
Columbia, S.C. 29223-4311

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial judge's ruling that the law of comparative negligence dictates Petitioner Jeanne Ethier recover nothing on her loss of consortium claim when the directly injured spouse, Petitioner Philip Ethier, recovered nothing because he was found more negligent than Respondent, where South Carolina law says the negligence of one spouse is not imputed to the other and our courts repeatedly have held since the 1920s that a loss of consortium claim is a separate and independent cause of action which is not derivative of the directly injured spouse's claim?

- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of Petitioners' motion for a new trial based on juror concealment, where a prospective juror intentionally or unintentionally concealed during voir dire the facts that she personally knew Respondent and two testifying nurse witnesses, that she had personally worked with them while employed at the hospital, and that she was biased in their favor due to her personal knowledge of them?

- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the denial of Petitioners' motion for a new trial based on juror misconduct consisting of premature and actual deliberations, where a seated juror engaged in misconduct by: (1) stating throughout the trial in premature and actual jury deliberations that she personally knew Respondent and two testifying nurse witnesses because she personally had worked with them; (2) unlawfully and improperly offering inadmissible, irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence by improperly bolstering and vouching personally for the alleged credibility, skill and knowledge of Respondent and the two nurses, and by stating throughout the trial in premature and actual deliberations that all three persons were thorough and careful in their work, and that if they said they did something, then they did it; (3) unlawfully and improperly expressing her bias during premature and actual deliberations in favor of Respondent and the nurses due to her personal knowledge of them; and (4) unlawfully and improperly exercising her personal bias in favor of Respondent by arguing and voting for a defense verdict as to Mr. Ethier?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners filed and served a Summons and Complaint in this medical malpractice case against Defendants on January 4, 2013. Petitioner Philip Ethier asserted that Defendants' negligence caused his injuries and damages. Petitioner Jeanne Ethier, his wife, asserted a loss of consortium claim. (Complaint, Appx. pp. 25-34.)

The jury rendered a verdict on April 8, 2015, after a seven-day trial. The jury awarded \$1,250,000 in economic damages and \$500,000 in non-economic damages to Mr. Ethier; however, the jury determined that Mr. Ethier was 70% negligent while Respondent was 30% negligent. The jury awarded \$250,000 to Mrs. Ethier on her loss of consortium claim. The Clerk entered judgment entirely in Respondent's favor on April 30, 2015. (Verdict and Judgment, Appx. pp. 1-5.)

Petitioners timely served motions for a new trial absolute based on juror misconduct. (Motions for New Trial and Mem. filed April 20, 2015, Appx. pp. 35-74.) Petitioners timely served a Rule 59, SCRCR, motion to correct or amend the judgment, asserting that the verdict was in favor of Mrs. Ethier on her loss of consortium claim. (Pl. Motion filed May 11, 2015, Appx. pp. 91-93.) An evidentiary hearing was held by the trial judge on May 12, 2015, with all jurors present. (Tr. of Juror Hearing, Appx. pp. 271-456.) Petitioners filed memoranda and exhibits in support of their motions for a new trial and to correct or amend the judgment. (Pl. Motions for New Trial and Mem. filed June 30, 2015, Appx. pp. 96-224; Pl. Rule 59 Motion and Mem. filed June 30, 2015, Appx. pp. 225-252.) Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition. (Appx. pp. 253-270.)

A hearing on Petitioners' post-trial motions was held July 6, 2015. (Tr. of Motion Hearing, Appx. pp. 457-501.) The trial judge denied Petitioners' motions by written order filed September 8, 2015. (Order, Appx. pp. 6-24.) Petitioners timely appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the circuit court in an unpublished, per curiam opinion. Ethier v. Fairfield Mem. Hospital, Unpublished Op. No. 2018-UP-281 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 27, 2018)) (Appx. pp. 1193-1195). Petitioners timely filed a petition for hearing, which the Court of Appeals denied. (Appx. pp. 1196-1215.) This Court granted the petition for a writ of certiorari on February 1, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Philip Ethier, accompanied by his wife, Jeanne Ethier, went to Fairfield Memorial Hospital's Emergency Department (ED) on April 10, 2011, while experiencing severe pain, numbness, discoloration and coldness in his right lower leg and foot. (Appx. pp. 660-61.) Mr. Ethier reported these symptoms during his triage exam with a certified nurse assistant and he reported them to Respondent. (Pl. Ex. 22, Appx. pp. 1052-61 and Pl. Dem. Exs. 23, 24 and 25, Appx. pp. 1062-64; Appx. pp. 667-86 (Mr. Ethier); Appx. pp. 578-83 (Dr. Adams); Appx. pp. 761-71 (Dr. Jolin).) Mr. Ethier was briefly examined by Respondent, who looked at and touched his leg, summarily concluded it was a "probable spider bite," gave him pain and steroid medications and discharged him. (Appx. pp. 679-86 (Mr. Ethier); Appx. pp. 878-79 (Resp.); Pl. Ex. 22, Appx. pp. 1052-61; Pl. Dem. Exs. 24 and 25, Appx. pp. 1063-64.)

Mr. and Mrs. Ethier testified they never mentioned or reported a spider bite at the ED on April 10. (Appx. p.678 (Mr. Ethier); Appx. pp. 812-14 (Mrs. Ethier).) Numerous witnesses for both Petitioners and Respondent testified that the only mention of a spider bite in the ED record was written by Respondent; no other ED staffer or nurse ever mentioned or noted it. (Pl. Ex. 22, Appx. pp. 1052-61; Pl. Dem. Exs. 23, 24 and 25, Appx. pp. 1062-64; Appx. pp. 589-90 (Dr. Adams); Appx. pp. 780-82 and 793-94 (Dr. Jolin); Appx. pp. 903-05 (Resp.); Appx. p.866 (RN Wadford); Appx. pp. 948-49 (Dr. Smith); Appx. pp. 933-34 (Dr. Weinstein); Appx. pp. 804-05 (CNA Anthony).) It was undisputed at trial that no spider bite mark was ever found on Mr. Ethier that day or later. There never was any spider bite – a diagnosis deemed "ridiculous" by Petitioners' vascular expert and an "egregious departure" from the standard of care by Petitioners' emergency medicine expert. (Appx. p.618 (Dr. Adams); Appx. pp. 791-92 (Dr. Jolin).)

In fact, Mr. Ethier's true condition on April 10 – which Respondent admitted he failed to even consider, let alone diagnose as a blood vessel problem – was an aneurysm in the popliteal artery behind the right knee. (Appx. pp. 592-94 (Dr. Adams); Appx. pp. 782-83 (Dr. Jolin); Appx. pp. 640-43 (Dr. Holleman); Appx. pp. 901-03 (Resp.)) An aneurysm is a balloon-like area of an artery which causes blood to swirl around and clot over time, and clots can break off into the bloodstream and block it. (Appx. pp. 584-85 (Dr. Adams).)

On May 25, 2011, Mr. Ethier again experienced the same symptoms as on April 10 and went to another hospital. He was promptly and properly diagnosed with an aneurysm in the popliteal artery behind his right knee. He was transferred by ambulance to a Charlotte hospital where he underwent emergency treatment and surgery, ultimately undergoing an open femoral bypass graft procedure to repair one artery. (Appx. pp. 698-710 (Mr. Ethier); Appx. pp. 623-36 (Dr. Holleman); Appx. pp. 1048-51 (medical illustrations).)

Mr. Ethier testified that he inexorably grew unable to handle the daily cycle of severe pain, disability and depression resulting from his condition. Mr. Ethier testified that he has suffered constant pain and disability of his leg and foot since May 25, 2011, and expects to do so for the rest of his life. He takes narcotic pain medications daily to stave off the pain, uses a leg brace due to his permanent foot drop and limps if he walks any distance, suffers from depression and anxiety, and regularly sees a psychiatrist and pain management doctor. Formerly a gung-ho, active, hardworking man his entire life, he no longer is able to work or engage in home projects or recreational activities as he once did. (Appx. pp. 710-21, 723-32, 744-49.)

Mrs. Ethier testified about Mr. Ethier's pain and suffering as he recovered and attempted to work until he could no longer do so. She testified about her own emotional distress and the impact of Mr. Ethier's permanent pain and disability on their relationship, life and future. Mrs.

Ethier testified that she still loves her husband, but their lives have been forever changed. (Appx. pp. 819-24, 827-33.)¹

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” In re Campbell, 379 S.C. 593, 599, 666 S.E.2d 908, 911 (2008) (citations omitted); I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000). In deciding a question of law, the appellate court reviews the circuit court’s decision de novo. Lambries v. Saluda County Council, 409 S.C. 1, 7, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014).

The decision whether to grant or deny a new trial rests within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of that discretion. Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc., 376 S.C. 545, 569, 658 S.E.2d 80, 93 (2008). An abuse of discretion occurs when the judge’s ruling is based upon an error of law, such as application of the wrong legal principle; or, when based upon factual conclusions, the ruling is without evidentiary support; or, when the judge is vested with discretion, but the ruling reveals no discretion was exercised; or when the ruling does not fall within the range of permissible decisions applicable in a particular case. Ex Parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc., 369 S.C. 1, 630 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2006); Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 539, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

¹ A more detailed recitation of the factual background and evidence presented at trial is contained in Petitioners’ Brief to the Court of Appeals. (Appx. pp. 1082-1091.)

ARGUMENT

I. LOSS OF CONSORTIUM VERDICT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge's ruling that comparative negligence law dictates Petitioner Jeanne Ethier recover nothing on her loss of consortium claim when the directly injured spouse, Petitioner Philip Ethier, recovered nothing because he was found more negligent than Respondent. South Carolina law says the negligence of one spouse is not imputed to the other and our courts repeatedly have held since the 1920s that a loss of consortium claim is a separate and independent cause of action which is not derivative of the directly injured spouse's claim.

In order to affirm the trial judge's ruling, the Court of Appeals necessarily overlooked or rejected long-established law on two points. First, the myriad of South Carolina cases which establish that a spouse's loss of consortium cause of action is a separate and independent cause of action would have to be overruled and that principle rejected. The Court of Appeals necessarily had to conclude that South Carolina is a "derivative" state instead of a "separate and independent" state with regard to consortium claims. Second, the Court of Appeals necessarily had to conclude that the negligence of the directly injured spouse is imputed to the consortium spouse, which also is contrary to established law.

FACTS

The jury in a special verdict form awarded \$1,250,000 in economic damages and \$500,000 in non-economic damages to Mr. Ethier; however, the jury determined that Mr. Ethier was 70% negligent while Dr. Bibeau was 30% negligent. The jury awarded \$250,000 to Mrs. Ethier for loss of consortium. (Appx. pp. 3-5.)

The filed Form 4 Order and Judgment states, in pertinent part:

A Verdict was issued by the jury in the above captioned matter on April 8, 2015, a copy of which is attached and incorporated by reference. The Plaintiff was found [to] have been 70% negligent and the Defendant was found to have been 30% negligent. The result is a Verdict in favor of the Defense. (Appx. p.1.)

Petitioners timely moved to correct the erroneous Order and Judgment. (Pl. Motion filed May 11, 2015, Appx. pp. 91-93.) Petitioners asserted that the true verdict of the jury as shown in the special verdict form, with regard to Mrs. Ethier, was that the jury found Respondent negligent; Mrs. Ethier proved by a preponderance of the evidence that Respondent's negligence was the proximate cause of her loss of consortium); and the total damages suffered by Mrs. Ethier for loss of consortium was \$250,000. (Verdict Form Question Nos. 1, 8, 9, Appx. pp. 3-5.)

Petitioners argued that, to the extent that the Order and Judgment conflicted with the jury's true verdict by stating that the verdict was for Respondent on Mrs. Ethier's claim, the trial judge should strike or amend the erroneous language so that it accurately states that the verdict was in favor of Mrs. Ethier. Specifically, Petitioners moved that the judgment be corrected or amended to state that the result of the jury's verdict is a verdict in favor of Respondent on Mr. Ethier's claims and a verdict of \$250,000 in favor of Mrs. Ethier on her loss of consortium claim. (Pl. Motion, Appx. pp. 91-93; Pl. Rule 59 Motion and Mem., Appx. pp. 225-51; Tr. of Motion Hearing, Appx. pp. 490-501.)

RULING

The Court of Appeals, affirming the trial judge's ruling, applied the law of comparative negligence to Mrs. Ethier's claim and concluded this case is controlled by Lee v. Bunch, 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E.2d 197 (2007). In Lee, the Supreme Court stated in passing that "[g]enerally, a plaintiff spouse's claim for loss of consortium fails if the impaired spouse's claim fails, whether the claim is considered separate and independent from the impaired spouse's claim or derivative in nature." (Order, Appx. p.23.)

LAW AND ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred because the Supreme Court in Lee actually explained again – as it has repeatedly since the 1920s – that because a loss of consortium claim is separate and distinct, “it is not inconsistent for the jury to return a verdict for the injured spouse on the primary claim and a verdict for the defendant on the loss of consortium claim.” Lee, 373 S.C. 654, 647 S.E.2d at 201-02. It is not inconsistent for the jury to return the same verdict on both spouses’ claims or different verdicts on each claim. Simply put, the verdicts do not have to be the same on these separate and independent claims. Id. (where plaintiff-husband motorcyclist was found 70% at fault and defendant found 30% at fault, and jury returned verdict for defendant on plaintiff-wife’s loss of consortium claim, trial judge erred in ruling that it was an inconsistent verdict for jury not to award any damages to plaintiff-wife because defendant was partially negligent and further erred in requiring jury to award some amount of damages; Supreme Court held that “the original verdicts were consistent. In South Carolina, claims for personal injuries and for loss of consortium are separate and distinct.”);² accord Craven v. Cunningham, 292 S.C. 441, 443, 357

² While discussing the inconsistent verdict issue, the Supreme Court observed in passing that a defendant “should not be forced to pay all of [plaintiff-wife’s] damages if he only contributed 30% to the accident. Generally, a plaintiff spouse’s claim for loss of consortium fails if the impaired spouse’s claim fails, whether the claim is considered separate and independent from the impaired spouse’s claim or derivative in nature. 41 Am. Jur. 2d Husband and Wife, § 227 (2007); Lee, 647 S.E.2d at 202.

This observation is dicta because the Court in Lee was faced with the issue of whether the verdicts were inconsistent, not whether the directly injured spouse’s negligence should be imputed to the other spouse’s consortium claim. There was no mention or discussion of the imputation issue in Lee. There was no reason to discuss the imputation issue because the original verdict reinstated by the Court on the consortium claim was a defense verdict on both husband and wife’s claims – unlike the present case. Moreover, the cases cited in § 227 of American Jurisprudence 2d do ***not*** support the stated proposition which was recited in Lee and relied on by the trial judge. It is ***not*** true that a consortium claim fails if the directly injured spouse’s claim fails, regardless of whether the consortium claim is considered independent or derivative. ***In fact,***

that actually is the key distinction. If the consortium claim is derivative, it rises and falls with the injured spouse's claim. If the consortium claim is independent, it is resolved separately from directly injured spouse's claim and does not rise and fall with that claim. See cases cited herein and footnotes 6, 7, 8 and 10, *infra*.

Among the authority cited in § 227, except for two inapposite cases, ***all*** of the cited cases finding that a spouse's consortium claim rises or falls with the directly injured spouse's claim were decided in states where a consortium claim is deemed ***derivative*** of the directly injured spouse's claim:

See Owens Corning v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 868 So.2d 331, ¶ 24 (Miss. 2004) (stating that a loss of consortium claim is *derivative*, thus the spouse claiming it stands in the shoes of the directly injured spouse and is subject to defenses available against the directly injured spouse); Durham ex rel. Estate of Wade v. U-Haul Intern., 745 N.E.2d 755, 764 (Ind. 2001) (stating that a loss of consortium claim is "*derivative* of the injured spouse's personal injury claim"; therefore, "if the spouse's cause of action for personal injury fails, the loss of consortium claim falls with it"); Richardson v. State Highway & Transp. Com'n, 863 S.W.2d 876, 880 (Mo. 1993) (stating that plaintiff's "loss of consortium is *derivative* only, so that if [the directly injured spouse] had no valid claim for personal injuries, [the other spouse] cannot recover for loss of consortium"); Hauck v. Danclar, 620 A.2d 479 (N.J. Super. Law Div. 1993) (trial court opinion stated that loss of consortium claim is *derivative*; thus when directly injured spouse's claim fails then other spouse's loss of consortium claim also fails); Murray v. Frankel, 626 A.2d 1328, 1331 (Conn. App. 1993) (stating that loss of consortium claim is *derivative*; therefore, when directly injured spouse's claim is dismissed then other spouse does not have loss of consortium claim); Henderson v. Hercules, Inc., 324 S.E.2d 453 (Ga. 1985) (holding "[o]ne spouse's right of action for the loss of the other's society or consortium is a *derivative* one, stemming from the right of the other"; therefore, wife had no cause of action against employer for loss of consortium because husband's exclusive remedy against employer was in workers' compensation); Watters v. Dinn, 633 N.E.2d 280, 292 (Ind. Ct. App. 1994) (holding that "[l]oss of consortium is *derivative* in nature and its viability depends upon the validity of the injured spouses' claim"; court reversed summary judgment on some of husband's claims and wife's loss of consortium claim derived from those claims was proper).

In Smith v. Ridgeway Chemicals, Inc., 302 S.C. 303, 307, 395 S.E.2d 742, 744 (Ct. App. 1990), the Court of Appeals concluded that issue of whether trial judge erred by not submitting the husband's loss of consortium claim to jury under strict liability cause of action was not preserved for review. The Court of Appeals noted in passing that the jury did not award damages to the wife under that cause of action and so the husband could not show prejudice. The Court of Appeals did not cite the long-established line of South Carolina cases holding that a consortium claim is separate and distinct, and there was no need to do so because that was not the issue at hand and the issue was not even preserved for review anyway; nor did the Court of Appeals in any way address any imputation issue. This case does not support the proposition stated in § 227.

S.E.2d 23, 25 (1987) (jury's award to injured spouse while denying wife's consortium claim was not inconsistent because wife's claim was contested throughout trial); Burroughs v. Worsham, 352 S.C. 382, 574 S.E.2d 215 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding a verdict for plaintiff on wrongful death claim and a defense verdict on loss of consortium were not inconsistent and were allowed); Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 231, 584 S.E.2d 423, 430 (Ct. App. 2003) (after finding for injured husband on medical malpractice claim, it was not inconsistent for jury to find for defendant on wife's consortium claim because "the jury obviously rejected her testimony, as was their prerogative").

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