THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY  
Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001435  
Case No. 2013-CP-20-0012

RECEIVED  
APR 08 2019  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Philip Ethier and Jeanne Ethier, ..... Petitioners,

v.

Fairfield Memorial Hospital; Guy R. Bibeau, M.D.;  
Tuomey Medical Professionals, Inc.; and  
Pee Dee Emergency Medical Associates, P.A., ..... Defendants

Of whom, Guy R. Bibeau, M.D. is the ..... Respondent.

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Andrew F. Lindemann  
LINDEMANN, DAVIS & HUGHES, P.A.  
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202  
Post Office Box 6923  
Columbia, South Carolina 29260  
(803) 881-8920

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

inquiry whether Killian "knew" or "worked with" the parties or witnesses, but such questions were never posed. In sum, Judge Couch's rulings on the intentional concealment issue are not in error and were correctly affirmed by the Court of Appeals in its *per curiam* decision.

Moreover, as an alternative position, the Ethiers continue to assert a new issue for the first time on appeal which is unpreserved for appellate review.<sup>3</sup> The Ethiers argue that even if this were a case of "unintentional concealment," a new trial absolute should be granted because they have shown prejudice. The Ethiers, however, never made this argument to Judge Couch, nor does his order address an "unintentional concealment." In fact, in their motion for new trial, the Ethiers specifically wrote: "This case is *not* a case of unintentional concealment because the Court's questions were *not* ambiguous or incomprehensible to the average juror, and the subject of the inquiry was *not* insignificant or so far removed in time that Killian's failure to respond is reasonable." (App. 108). (Emphasis in original). Moreover, during the hearing on their motion for new trial, Ethiers' counsel never made this alternative argument.

Finally, as to the merits of this newly asserted theory, it is well settled that, pursuant to the two-part test from *Woods* and *Lynch*, "[i]f the court finds no intentional concealment occurred, the inquiry ends there." *Lynch*, 760 S.E.2d at 116. *See also*, *State v. Sparkman*, 358 S.C. 491, 596 S.E.2d 375, 378 (2004) ("[b]ecause Scott's concealment was unintentional, our inquiry is over"). In sum, the Ethiers are not entitled to a new trial absolute for an unintentional concealment, which bears repeating is a finding Judge Couch never made (nor was asked to make). To the contrary, he concluded that "Ms. Killian reasonably responded to the questions asked during pretrial voir dire." (App. 10). She did not hide her prior employment at the Hospital. Thus, there was no unintentional concealment.

---

<sup>3</sup> In *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004), the Supreme Court explained that "[i]ssues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court." 602 S.E.2d at 779-780.

**III. The trial court, as affirmed by the Court of Appeals, was correct in denying the Petitioners' motion for a new trial absolute based on alleged juror misconduct committed during preliminary deliberations and then later during jury deliberations.**

The Ethiers also seek a new trial absolute on the basis of alleged juror misconduct committed during preliminary deliberations and then later during jury deliberations. Those issues were raised as separate grounds in the trial court and were addressed separately by Judge Couch. On appeal, the Ethiers continue to jumble the two issues and treat them as the same, which they are not.

While the analysis of the two issues is different in certain respects as discussed below, the standard of review is not. In *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999), this Court reiterated that "the trial court has broad discretion in assessing allegations of juror misconduct." 509 S.E.2d at 814. "[U]nless the misconduct affects the jury's impartiality, it is not such misconduct as will affect the verdict." *Id.* See also, *Lynch*, 760 S.E.2d at 114 ("it is within the trial court's discretion to grant a new trial based on juror misconduct during deliberations").

As to both issues, it is noted that the Ethiers make only conclusory arguments. They treat the standard of review as though it was *de novo*. In effect, as was also their approach in the Court of Appeals, the Ethiers merely re-argue the merits of their position rather than even attempting to show an abuse of discretion committed by Judge Couch. The appeal will not turn on whether the appellate court would have ruled differently *de novo*. Instead, the issue is whether Judge Couch committed an error of law that gives rise to an abuse of discretion. The Ethiers have failed to make that showing on either issue, and the Court of Appeals was correct to affirm.

**A. Juror Misconduct in Preliminary Deliberations**

In the trial court, the Ethiers claimed that "Teresa A. Killian, as a seated juror, engaged in misconduct by: (1) stating throughout the trial in premature jury deliberations that she personally knew Dr. Bibeau and nurses Wadford and Gwynn because she had personally worked with them; (2) unlawfully and improperly offering inadmissible, irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial evidence by vouching personally for the alleged credibility, skill and knowledge of Dr. Bibeau and the two nurses, and by stating throughout the trial in premature deliberations that all three persons were thorough and careful in their work, and that if they said they did something, then they did it; and (3) by unlawfully and improperly expressing her bias during premature deliberations in favor of Dr. Bibeau and the nurses due to her personal knowledge of them." (App. 36).

As Judge Couch correctly ruled, the issue surrounding premature deliberations by a jury is a question of fundamental fairness. In *State v. Aldret*, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999), this Court held that "premature jury deliberations may affect 'fundamental fairness' of a trial such that the trial court may inquire into such allegations and may consider affidavits in support of such allegations." 509 S.E.2d at 813. This Court then proceeded to provide a "suggested procedure to follow in cases in which an allegation of premature deliberations arises." 509 S.E.2d at 815. This Court explained:

If ... the fact of the premature deliberations does not become apparent until after the jury's verdict, we hold the trial court **may** consider affidavits [on the issue of premature deliberations]. If the trial court finds the affidavits credible, and indicative of premature deliberations, an evidentiary hearing should be held to assess whether such deliberations in fact occurred, and whether they affected the verdict. At such an evidentiary hearing, the trial court may, upon request of the moving party, reassemble the jurors and conduct voir dire to ascertain the nature and extent of the premature deliberations. If the court determines the misconduct

did not occur, or that it was not prejudicial, adequate findings should be made so that the determination may be reviewed.

*Id.* (Emphasis in original) (Citation omitted).

The Ethiers' motion was supported by an affidavit from juror Sandra Carmichael which raises the issue of juror misconduct in initiating preliminary deliberations. The court's consideration of that affidavit is governed by Rule 606(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence which allows a juror to offer testimony as to "whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury's attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror." Rule 606(b), SCRE. Rule 606(b) further provides:

Upon an inquiry into the validity of a verdict ..., a juror may not testify as to any matter or statement occurring during the course of the jury's deliberations or to the effect of anything upon that or any other juror's mind or emotions as influencing the juror to assent to or dissent from the verdict or indictment or concerning the juror's mental processes in connection therewith, ... [n]or may a juror's affidavit or evidence of any statement by the juror concerning a matter about which the juror would be precluded from testifying be received for these purposes.

*Id.* Therefore, as this Court has recognized, Rule 606 "draws a distinction between evidence of external influences on the jury's deliberations and comments of jurors occurring during deliberations. While the rule allows evidence of the former to be introduced, it prohibits the introduction of the latter." *Shumpert v. State*, 378 S.C. 62, 661 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2008). This Court further explained that "juror testimony involving internal misconduct may be received only when necessary to ensure fundamental fairness." *Id.*

Dr. Bibeau had argued that the Carmichael affidavit does not rise to the level of extrinsic misconduct as set forth in Rule 606(b). In her affidavit, Juror Carmichael describes statements made by Juror Killian that began during the second or third day of trial and continued into the jury's deliberations. Carmichael characterized these statements as indicating that Killian had worked with Dr. Bibeau and Nurse Jerilyn Wadford at Fairfield Memorial Hospital and were

made to bolster their professional work abilities and credibility. (App. 64-65). After reviewing the Carmichael affidavit, Judge Couch found it to be sufficiently credible to justify further inquiry by the court and held a hearing as described in the *Aldret* decision to determine if misconduct occurred and if so, what effect, if any, it may have had on the outcome of the case. All jurors who participated in the finding of the verdict in this case were present and did testify at the hearing which was held on May 12, 2015.

As indicated, this Court has used "the language of 'fundamental fairness' to describe the constitutional implications of juror misconduct." *Vestry and Church Wardens of Church of Holy Cross v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc.*, 384 S.C. 441, 682 S.E.2d 489, 493 (2009). This Court has cautioned, however, that "not all juror misconduct impinges upon the fundamental fairness of a trial." *Id.* This Court further explained that "[a] defeated party is not entitled to a new trial for every act of misconduct by or affecting the jury, as such misconduct does not *ipso facto* justify the grant of a new trial; but in order that a new trial may be granted on such ground the misconduct of the jury must relate to a material matter in dispute and must be such as to indicate an influence of bias or prejudice in the minds of the jurors." *Id.*

As Judge Couch determined, the standard for evaluating alleged juror misconduct requires proof of the resulting prejudice by clear and convincing evidence. *See, Vestry and Church Wardens of Church of Holy Cross v. Orkin Exterminating Co., Inc.*, 384 S.C. 441, 682 S.E.2d 489, 494 (2009) (Court explained that trial court found "no clear and convincing evidence that any of the twelve jurors ... were improperly influenced by [the juror's] misconduct"). *See also, Aldret*, 509 S.E.2d at 814, *citing Hunt v. Methodist Hospital*, 240 Neb. 838, 485 N.W.2d 737 (Neb. 1992) ("party claiming juror misconduct has burden to prove prejudice by clear and convincing evidence"). Therefore, as Judge Couch ruled, the Ethiers "cannot rest upon evidence

that misconduct merely occurred, but rather must prove prejudice resulting from that misconduct by clear and convincing evidence." (App. 14).<sup>4</sup>

The Court of Appeals has previously held that a misunderstanding of one juror or an inappropriate comment made during the course of the trial does not warrant setting aside a verdict. *State v. Galbreath*, 359 S.C. 398, 406, 597 S.E.2d 845, 849 (Ct. App. 2004). Litigants, whether plaintiffs or defendants, are entitled to fair trials but not perfect trials. *Smoak v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company*, 259 S.C. 632, 193 S.E.2d 594, 598 (1972). "If a new trial was required every time a flaw or mere possibility of prejudice occurred, litigation would be unduly prolonged." *Id.* See also, *Aakjer v. Spagnoli*, 291 S.C. 165, 352 S.E.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1987).

Judge Couch recognized that this case involved "a five-day trial which involved rather tedious testimony" and "that given the length and nature of trial it is not surprising that a juror may make some comments as the trial progresses." (App. 14). When that does happen, a court must decide whether a new trial is warranted. In doing so, the inquiry is whether the evidence shows prejudice in that the improper comments shaped the final deliberations or that the moving party was prejudiced by the comments. As indicated, this should be shown by clear and convincing evidence to justify the court invading the sanctity of the jury room and setting aside the verdict.

Ultimately, Judge Couch found that "Ms. Killian did make statements that were heard by

---

<sup>4</sup> During the hearing, the Ethiers' counsel questioned whether the proper standard is clear and convincing or preponderance of the evidence. Judge Couch applied the clear and convincing standard, which is supported by case law. Nonetheless, on appeal, the Ethiers do not challenge or object to the use of the clear and convincing standard, and as a result, that constitutes the law of the case. In *ML-Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche*, 327 S.C. 238, 489 S.E.2d 470 (1997), this Court explained that an "unappealed ruling is the law of the case" and the unappealed ruling "should not have been reconsidered by the Court of Appeals." 489 S.E.2d at 472.

several jurors concerning her work experience with the Defendant and Nurse Wadford. However, the Court concludes that these statements had no real effect on the consideration of the verdict in this case." (App. 15). More specifically, Judge Couch determined that the comments by Juror Killian "were based only on her own experiences and, therefore, would be internal influences on the jury rather than external influences or from extraneous matters." (App. 15). He also found that no jurors engaged Killian and that "the vast majority of the jurors did not recall the statements being made or indicated that the statements had no bearing on their ultimate verdict in the case." (App. 15). He thus denied the Ethiers' motion for a new trial absolute upon concluding as follows:

The Court does not find that Ms. Killian's comments during breaks in the trial had any effect on the jurors – Ms. Carmichael included – so as to render the trial fundamentally unfair. The Court does not find that any misconduct by Ms. Killian as ascertained from the jurors' testimony actually influenced the jury's verdict.

(App. 15).

Judge Couch's findings in this regard are fully supported by the evidentiary record and were correctly affirmed by the Court of Appeals. The Ethiers have not argued nor shown any error of law in the trial court's analysis nor an absence of evidence to support those findings. The findings are entitled to great deference and therefore should not be overturned absent an error of law. The denial of a new trial absolute with respect to the preliminary deliberations issue was correctly affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

#### **B. Juror Misconduct During Deliberations**

The Ethiers have also sought a new trial absolute on the basis of juror misconduct committed by Juror Teresa Killian during jury deliberations. As the Court of Appeals has instructed, "[i]nitially, the trial judge must make a factual determination as to whether juror

misconduct has occurred." *Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage Centers, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 146, 760 S.E.2d 111, 114 (Ct. App. 2014). In addition, the Ethiers must also prove by clear and convincing evidence that prejudice actually occurred as a result of that misconduct.

The Ethiers allege that Juror Killian committed misconduct during the jury deliberations by describing Dr. Bibeau as being a "good doctor" and by claiming that Dr. Bibeau and the nurses were "thorough and competent." Judge Couch found that such comments "were based only on her own experiences and, therefore, would be internal influences on the jury rather than external influences or from extraneous matters." (App. 16). The Ethiers did not challenge the ruling on appeal, which was acknowledged by the Court of Appeals in the opinion's footnote.<sup>5</sup>

Importantly, in *Lynch*, the Court of Appeals explained that "[i]nternal influences involve information coming from the jurors themselves." *Lynch*, 760 S.E.2d at 115, citing *State v. Ziegler*, 364 S.C. 94, 610 S.E.2d 859, 867 (Ct. App. 2005). Judge Couch thus ruled that "[b]ecause the comments attributed to Ms. Killian are internal influences, the testimony regarding such statements is inadmissible under Rule 606(b), SCRE, consistent with the analysis by the Court of Appeals in *Lynch*." (App. 16). He accordingly ruled that "the evidence of the juror misconduct is actually inadmissible, and the Plaintiffs' proof fails on that basis." (App. 16). Again, as the Court of Appeals noted, the Ethiers did not appeal that ruling, and that implicates the two-issue rule as a basis for affirmance.<sup>6</sup>

---

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